96725-3

No. 76935-9-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BENJAMIN C. ARP,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES H. RILEY and "JANE DOE" RILEY, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof; and SIERRA CONSTRUCTION CO. INC., a Washington State Corporation,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Benjamin C Arp Pro se 2315 NE 105th Street Seattle, WA 98125 (206) 850-6723

A. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Benjamin C. Arp asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision set forth in Part B. It is important to note that Mr. Arp is representing himself Pro se given that his attorneys withdrew from his case effective on Dec 24, 2018 and the time to filed petition by January 7, 2019 was short.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its unpublished opinion on November 5, 2018. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that the confirmation required that Arp disclose his personal injury claim and he failed to do so?
- 2. Did the Appeal Court err in concluding that the bankruptcy court accepted that Arp took an inconsistent position and that Arp benefited from his nondisclosure?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Central to these entire court proceedings so far, has been a lengthy series of court documents, hearings and opinions about Arp's near fatal car accident that resulting in serious injuries that eventually lead to his release by his employer the Boeing Company. Prior to this, Arp filed a petition for bankruptcy under Chapter 13 in July 2008 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Washington yet not just of his choosing. He did so for several reasons including to prevent a possible Chapter 7 petition. The confirmation of the plan was complicated. CP 34, 66, 486. It took nearly a year and a half to confirm the plan. During the time before confirmation, Arp had, as is expected of a debtor, fully and honestly disclose all his assets and many were liquated.

The bankruptcy court confirmed Arp's Chapter 13 plan on December 17, 2009. CP 34, 67, 85, 486. The confirmation of the plan was complicated. CP 34, 66, 486. It took nearly a year and a half to confirm the plan. Id. After its initial filing and due in part from its complexity, his bankruptcy continued and in December 2009 the Bankruptcy Court issued a confirmation order for Arp's Chapter 13 plan. This was a well thought out plan with several objections to the original plan and 1st and 2nd amended plans which are equitably reconciled. CP 34, 66, 67, 486.

A substantial number of Mr. Arp's assets, totaling \$130,632.72 were liquidated as soon as possible to pay creditors. Id. This plan was not confirmed by default. CP 34, 66, 486. For the Bankruptcy plan to be confirmed the debtor had to satisfy Chapter 13 of the bankruptcy code, the Trustee had to determine, after careful examination, whether he had any objections, and the court had to independently determine it was satisfied with the plan. CP 34, 67, 486. The bankruptcy court, after notice and review by all creditors, confirmed Mr. Arp's third amended wage-earner plan on December 17, 2009. Leading up to Arp confirmation, he had, as is expected of a debtor, fully and honestly disclosed all his assets and many were liquated. Id. After confirmation of the plan, Arp also liquidated his Toyota Highlander and paid \$20, 075.20 to the Trustee on April 9, 2010. CP 35, 67, 486. This was also to satisfy the "best interest of creditors test", which is that creditors would do at least as well if Mr. Arp had filed for Chapter 7 instead. Id. His monthly payment plan was set for the minimum 36-month time period. CP 68, 486. Arp made regular \$100/month payments beginning September 2008. CP 34,66, 179, 486.

The portions of the confirmation order at issue are:

4. That the debtor shall inform the Trustee of any change in circumstances, or receipt of additional income, and shall further comply with any requests of the Trustee with

respect to additional financial information the Trustee may require;

6. That during the pendency of the plan hereby confirmed, all property of the estate, as defined by 11 U. S. C. section 1306(a) shall remain vested in the debtor, under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court, and further, that the debtor shall not, without specific approval of the Court, lease, sell, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of such property, CP 35, 85, Appendix.1.

Almost a year after the confirmation of Arp's Chapter 13 plan, James Riley (in the course and scope of his employment by Sierra) rearended Arp, causing debilitating brain and physical injuries. On October 5, 2010, Arp sustained a debilitating traumatic brain injury and other serious physical injuries when he was rear ended by a large SUV traveling at a high rate of speed. CP 35, 180. 486. The collision occurred when Mr. Riley slammed his GMC Yukon Denali SUV into the rear of Arp's Honda as Arp was stopped for traffic. Id. James Riley drove the SUV while working for Sierra Construction Company. CP 36, 139, 486. The back of Arp's head was struck by sharp objects from behind the driver seat. CP 36, 180, 486. His chest was crushed between the steering wheel and the driver seat, fracturing his ribs. Id. His head was violently whipped around by the impact. Id. He was very confused at the scene, and had no memory of hitting the car in front of him. Id. He lost consciousness after the impact. Id. He soon began to have many mental and emotional problems,

including memory loss and a greatly diminished ability to concentrate or pay attention. Id. He was easily distracted, had a hard time focusing on the task at hand, and exhibited very serious memory loss. CP 37, 139, 180, 486. Arp had difficulties managing his time and projects at work, and could not multitask at all. CP 37, 181, 486. He had a brain MRI in January 2012. CP 37, 181, 486, 560. It revealed hemorrhaging and other intra cranial abnormalities. CP 37, 181, 486, 557, 560-564. The effects of the brain injury were debilitating, very long lasting, and have not improved. CP 36, 181, 486. A neuropsychologist described his symptoms as consistent with cognitive disorder NOS (not otherwise specified) and adjustment disorder NOS, as well as depression and anxiety. CP 558, 568, 575.

In November 2012, Arp filed this lawsuit against Riley and, in July 2013, filed an amended complaint adding Sierra. Among other damages, the complaint seeks compensation for "[p]ast, present and future lost wages." In Sierra's answer, it asserted the affirmative defenses of judicial estoppel and lack of standing. The lower court granted summary judgment on both grounds.

Arp appealed the trial court's judgment to the Appeals court. In Arp I, the Appeals court reversed the trial court's summary judgment.¹ It

¹ Arp v. Riley, 192 Wn. App. 85, 366 P.3d 946 (2015) (Arp I)

stated that the bankruptcy court's confirmation order required that Arp disclose his personal injury claim, which Arp did not do.² But the court held that the record did not establish by undisputed facts all of the elements of judicial estoppel because it did not show that the trial court considered whether the bankruptcy court accepted any inconsistent claim Arp made or whether Arp benefited from making any inconsistent claim.³ The Appeals Court stated the record did not establish that the trial court "exercised individualized discretion" to decide that permitting Arp to pursue his claim would "affront the integrity of the judicial process."⁴

Our Supreme Court denied Sierra's petition for review and the matter was remanded to the trial court. On remand, the parties conducted additional discovery to address the unresolved factual issues noted in Arp I. Arp then filed a motion for partial summary judgment to strike Sierra's affirmative defense of Judicial estoppel. Sierra renewed its motion for summary judgment, asserting judicial estoppel barred Arp's claim. The trial court denied Arp's motion and granted Sierra's motion for summary judgment. Arp filed a motion for reconsideration, which the trial court denied. Arp appeals the trial court's summary judgment order.

² Arp I, 192 Wn. App. at 101.

³ Arp I, 192 Wn. App. at 101-01.

⁴ Arp I, 192 Wn. App. at 101.

In Arp II⁵, the Appeals Court agreed with the trial court that Arp took an inconsistent position; Arp did not properly disclose his claim to the trustee, and based on the trustee's account of Arp's assets, the bankruptcy court discharged his debts, thereby accepting that he had no more assets to disclose. Arp disagrees with the Appeals Court opinion.

E. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

In responding to what amounts to allegations of concealment and nondisclosure carried out by me, the arguments for this petition focus on my participation in the events of my bankruptcy interactions. I did not attend law school, and did not pass the bar, and do not have even a day let alone years of experience as an attorney arguing point of case law and legal doctrine. But what happened to this plaintiff should not happen to any member of public in filing for a Chapter 13 bankruptcy and completing such a bankruptcy. In a case of extreme misfortune, this plaintiff was nearly killed on the I-405 interstate highway in Renton. It should not be forgotten that justice fundamentally comes down to equal protect under the law. That should govern interaction between plaintiff

⁵ Arp v. Riley, N. 76935-9-I slip Op. at 7 (Div. 1 Nov 5,2018) (Arp II)

and defendant and when that does not happen, every member of the public could be at risk.

(1) The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Concluded that Arp Did Not Inform the Trustee About the Automobile Accident. The Court of Appeals Ignored Facts and Evidence including the Confirmation Order Specifics That Arp's Notice Was Sufficient and Arp Specifically Fulfilled the Requirements of the Chapter 13 Trustee

The Appeal Court in Arp II⁶ asserted that the Arp did not disclose his car accident to the Bankruptcy Court and that the bankruptcy court accepted an inconsistent position by Arp. The facts clearly show otherwise yet this fundamental error still persists.

The Appeals Court states that the confirmation order, not Chapter 13 required Arp to disclose car accident but Arp in fact had disclosed his car accident claim the Bankruptcy in compliance with his conformation order. Ibid. This difference of opinion in interpreting Arp action demonstrates a fundamental error that premediates most of the argument about whether there was disclosure or nondisclosure by Arp. The reflects whether there is a carefully understanding of what are the specific requirements by the Bankruptcy Court in its confirmation order. Further

⁶ Arp II at 9

does such understanding matches any explanation claiming the Arp did not inform the Bankruptcy Court of car accident between the vehicles drive by James Riley and Benjamin Arp on October 5, 2010.

The confirmation order in part states: "That the debtor shall inform the Trustee of any change in circumstances"

On January 6, 2012, Jeffery B Wells, the bankruptcy attorney for Arp responded to a Motion to Dismiss Arp's Chapter 13 Plan by the bankruptcy trustee resulting from Arp recent sporadic payment in latter part of 2011. CP 91-92. Arp had believed he was regularly been making all his monthly payment to the bankruptcy court and found out from Wells that the bankruptcy court had file a motion to dismiss to his bankruptcy. They immediately worked on a solution to this problem which would inform trustee of how Arp would stay in compliance with his Chapter 13 plan. As a result, Wells because aware of the serious injuries especially due to the traumatic brain injures that Arp has suffered as a result of the car crash. In order for Arp to successfully complete his Chapter 13 plan, Wells sent a Response to the Motion to Discuss informing the Trustee that on October 5, 2010 Arp had been car accident where he received significant brain injuries that resulted in short term memory loss. Wells further noted that no doubt this was the cause of the sporadic payment that prompted the payment problem. Wells include a Declaration of Benjamin

Arp with a simple clear explanation by Arp of the car accident in which was "not of his fault.". CP 91. Wells further noted to the Trustee that Arp had just owed \$2,875 on his Chapter 13 plan in which he had already paid \$154,336 and so respectfully requested that the debtor pay off the balance owning on his plan. CP 91-92. This exchange between Wells and the bankruptcy trustee clearly informed the trustee that 15 months before Arp was involved in car accident not of his fault and this information was received by a trustee who managed a large number of bankruptcy files with a very large number of assets. The trustee would easily understand that such an accident could be cause of action that could result in a future personal injury lawsuit. It is disingenuous for the party responsible for the accident to claim that information the trustee received did not indicate to him a cause of action.

The resolution that Wells suggested to the bankruptcy trustee was that Arp's sister was willing to be of assistance so Arp could pay off the amount still owed in full. That resolution was accepted by the bankruptcy trustee and later was a factor that allow Arp to complete his Chapter 13 plan. CP 91-91. There was no concealing of the car accident from the bankruptcy trustee and the disclosure just described is in compliance with the wording and intent of the Conformation Order that controlled Arp's Chapter 13. To make the claim that Arp in his interactions of Well in

responding to the Motion to Dismiss was part of a concealment is ludicrous and question the credibility of Wells as Arp's bankruptcy attorney. Wells in his interaction with Arp and his Response to the Motion To Dismiss would in no way participate in or risk his reputation in any attempt by Arp to concealment the car accident. The fundamental error of maintaining that Arp had not informed the trustee as required by the language of the confirmation order is further evident in reviewing the exact language of that order.

The portions of the confirmation order relevant to Arp's informing the bankruptcy of the car accident are these provisions:

4. That the debtor shall inform the Trustee of any change in circumstances, or receipt of additional income, and shall further comply with any requests of the Trustee with respect to additional financial information the Trustee may require;

6. That during the pendency of the plan hereby confirmed, all property of the estate, as defined by 11 U. S. C. section 1306(a) shall remain vested in the debtor, under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court, and further, that the debtor shall not, without specific approval of the Court, lease, sell, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of such property, CP 35, 85, Appendix.1.

The above description of the actions of the plaintiff as seen in his response which Arp and Wells prepared and filed as a Response to Motion to Dismiss is clearly sending change in circumstance information to the

Trustee. It is very important to read the provisions asking if there is any method specific for "shall inform the Trustee" that is required in informing the trustee. The text specifies "the debtor shall inform the Trustee" and any reading of that phrase demonstrates no means of informing the trustee are required whether any possible means or method of using documents are required or excluded whether that be a simple letter, response to a motion, filing of an affidavit or other means; no doubt none specified here or elsewhere in the Confirmation. To maintain otherwise is incorrect, a misrepresentation and a false claim and includes the claims on this by Arp action asserted by Sierra. The assertion that the trustee was no given proper disclosure of the change in circumstances from Arp because it was contained in the Response to Dismiss Motion and therefore "insufficient" or an inadequate method to respond clearly contradicts the actual wording of the confirmation order. In case it is not seen indisputably, in no way does the confirmation order say that a Response to any motion from the Trustee is not allow as a method to "inform the Trustee.' This fundamental error has been repeated and unfortunately believed and taken for fact by the trial courts and appeals court.

> 2) The court proceedings unfairly applied the doctrine of judicial estoppel in a manner that unjustly harmed Arp in allowing the actions of Sierra to subvert and utilized the court to escape responsibility for the injuries the Arp received from Riley recklessly operating a vehicle and causing a dangerous accident.

The injuries were suffered by Arp due to Riley recklessly operating a vehicle and causing a dangerous accident. Sierra subverted and utilized the court to escape responsibility for the injuries the Arp. Sierra manipulated and misused the court of Washington to harm not just the integrity of the courts themselves and Arp but damage the right of the public to get compensation for injuries not of their fault that is caused by others in the operation of vehicles on the road within Washington. This court proceedings results in manifest injustice.

> 3) The Appeal and Trial courts in their misplaced efforts to protect the courts falsely accused Arp of negative motives and fraudulent intentions and the equivalent of deception and specifically claiming Arp in overturning judicial estoppel would damage the integrity of the judicial process and allow debtors to use the bankruptcy process wrongly

The Appeals Court errored in affirming a false and accusatory conclusion in Arp II that if the trial court "refused to apply judicial estoppel under these facts, it would suggest to debtors that they could disregard bankruptcy court orders without consequence." Arp II. The Fourteenth Amendment in its Due Process Clause describe a legal obligation of all states. Due process requires fairness in the methods used to deprive a person of life, liberty or property. The conclusion of the Appeals Court failed to apply due process and is manifest injustice.

 <u>4)</u> The Appeals Court mistakenly concluded that Arp's action "would impair the integrity of the bankruptcy court and disrupt a bankruptcy system premised on the idea that honest but unfortunate debtors disclose all their assets in exchange for a discharge of debt." Arp in no way disregarded the requirements in his confirmation order from the bankruptcy court. Arp in fact honestly disclosed all his assets and to conclude otherwise harms the integrity of the judicial process, harms the right of the public to gain compensation in the court of Washington and allows an insurance company to escape their responsibilities and obligations in issuing insurance within Washington. This conclusion is manifest injustice.

5) The Court of Appeals Decision Errors in Applying Judicial Estoppel Minimizing Arp's Compliance with the Confirmation Order Requirements. As Such the Decision Relies on False Assumptions and Speculation That Harms Arp.

On remand from *Arp* 1⁷, Arp retained a Chapter 13 bankruptcy expert in the Western District of Washington, Kathleen Shoemaker. CP 101-136. Arp submitted Ms. Shoemaker's Declaration in support of Arp's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Sierra's Motion for Summary Judgment. *Id*.

Shoemaker has practiced bankruptcy law in Fircrest, Seattle and Tacoma for 19 years, appearing as attorney of record in nearly 390

⁷ Arp v. Riley, 192 Wn. App. 85, 366 P,3d 946 (2015) (Arp 1)

Chapter 13 bankruptcies in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Washington. CP 48, 102, 486.

From 2004 to 2009, Shoemaker was employed as a Staff Attorney by David M. Howe, the Chapter 13 Trustee in Tacoma. *Id* In her capacity as Staff Attorney for the Chapter 13 Trustee, she reviewed Chapter 13 plans for objection, advised the Chapter 13 Trustee on legal issues related to the office's administration of Chapter 13 cases, and regularly appeared before the Bankruptcy Court representing the Chapter 13 Trustee. CP 102, 486. There were 8,512 Chapter 13 cases filed in the years she worked for the Chapter 13 Trustee in Tacoma. CP 102, 111-113, 486.

She represented the Chapter 13 Trustee in a number of Local Bankruptcy Rules Committee meetings for the Western District of Washington. CP 103, 486. The Seattle and Tacoma offices were particularly close and consistent in their practices and administration of the Chapter 13 Bankruptcy Rules. *Id.* Her expertise in knowing what was decided by the Trustees is substantial and very relevant to this case.

In her practice as the attorney for the Trustee, and in her practice since, the use of "change of circumstances" in the Court's confirmation order of 2009 was controlled by *Anderson⁸*; the debtor's duty to disclose a post confirmation "change in circumstance" concerned a "substantial

⁸ In re Anderson, 21 F.3d 355, 358 (9th Cir. 1994). 11 U.S.C. §1325(b)(1)(b).

change in the debtor's ability to pay all projected disposable income as calculated at the time of confirmation". CP 48, 49, 104, 486.

Since Arp did not incur any lost wages due to the accident that were not covered under his work benefits, he did not have a change in his or ability to pay nor had his income changed during the pendency of the his Chapter 13. CP 48- 50, 104, 486. Therefore, there was no "change of circumstances" pursuant to *Anderson. Id*.

Per the confirmation order, Arp's post-confirmation auto accident, that had uncertain and unknown value sometime in the future, was vested in Mr. Arp, i.e., he owned this asset free of creditors. In Shoemaker's practice, and as staff attorney for the trustee for in the Chapter 13 Bankruptcy Court, an auto accident in and of itself was not a "change of circumstances" under the 2009 confirmation order. CP 52, 105, 486.

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