FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/19/2019 11:19 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96725-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BENJAMIN C. ARP,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES H. RILEY and "JANE DOE" RILEY, husband and wife and the marital community composed thereof; and SIERRA CONSTRUCTION CO., INC. a Washington State Corporation,

Respondents.

# SIERRA CONSTRUCTION CO., INC.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND RESPONSE TO MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME

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

### C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

(1) <u>Arp Fails to Disclose How Division I's Factually-Driven</u> Opinion Merits Review under RAP 13.4(b)

Arp failed in his petition to document how Division I's well-reasoned opinion merits review under the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Arp's petition is essentially a repetition of his merits arguments to Division I. It is devoid of any real attention to this Court's criteria governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). He does not document how Division I misapplied the law of the case doctrine in applying the judicial estoppel principles articulated in *Arp I*, or, for that matter, how Division I somehow misapplied this Court's well-established principles of judicial estoppel.

First, the law of the case doctrine "ordinarily precludes re-deciding the same legal issues in a subsequent appeal." *Folsom v. City of Spokane*, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988). Questions previously determined on appeal "will not again be considered on a subsequent appeal if there is no substantial change in the evidence at a second determination

of the cause. [A reviewing court] is bound by its decision on the first appeal until such time as it might be authoritatively overruled." *Id.* (quoting *Adamson v. Traylor*, 66 Wn.2d 338, 339, 402 P.2d 499 (1965)). *See also*, *State v. Worl*, 129 Wn.2d 416, 425, 918 P.2d 905 (1996), *review denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1024 (1998). Division I correctly determined that the legal principles it set forth in *Arp I* controlled. Op. at 6-7.<sup>3</sup>

Moreover, Division I properly concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in applying principles of judicial estoppel. Op. at 7-16. Judicial estoppel "precludes a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position." *Arp I*, 192 Wn. App. at 91 (quoting *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13 (2007)). "The purposes of the doctrine are to preserve respect for judicial proceedings without the necessity of resort to the perjury statutes; to bar as evidence statements by a party which would be contrary to sworn testimony the party has given in prior judicial proceedings; and to avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and ...waste of time." *Bartley–Williams v. Kendall*, 134 Wn. App. 95, 98, 138 P.3d 1103 (2006) (quoting *Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping*, 126 Wn. App. 222, 225, 108 P.3d 147 (2005)).

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Arp did not argue that  $Arp\ I$ 's analysis of the elements of judicial estoppel was clearly erroneous. Arp did not argue there had been a substantial change in the law since  $Arp\ I$ .

Although the *Arp II* court determined that the question of whether Arp took inconsistent positions in bankruptcy and state court was not conclusively resolved by the law of the case doctrine, op. at 9-11, it then correctly decided that Arp, in fact, took inconsistent positions.

Arp's principal contention for not applying the law of the case doctrine is his contention that he did not take inconsistent positions in the bankruptcy and state courts, based on the testimony of Kathleen Shoemaker. Pet. at 8-19. Division I properly rejected this argument. Op. at 9-11. It was entirely justified in so doing.

First, of course, he ignores the plain language of the bankruptcy court order, which is unmistakably clear that Arp was ordered to advise the bankruptcy court of any changes in his financial status. Further, Shoemaker's legal opinions that Arp's personal injury "was not in and of itself a 'change of circumstances' under the 2009 confirmation order" (CP 104) and that "Arp's notice was acceptable" (CP 108) merely rehash arguments tacitly rejected in *Arp I*. In any event, Shoemaker's opinions that Arp had no duty to disclose and his notice was adequate disclosure are merely legal conclusions based on Shoemaker's interpretation of the Bankruptcy Code and case law. Division I seemingly disregarded

Shoemaker's opinion in *Arp II*, as it should, because it invaded the province of the trial court.<sup>4</sup>

But what is perhaps the most compelling reason for disregarding Shoemaker's opinion, a point not directly addressed by Division I, is that Shoemaker cited a bankruptcy trial court decision in *Sirfiani Carlson* as the basis for her opinion. CP 105-06. But that opinion was actually *overruled* by the Ninth Circuit adopting Division I's position on the law *before* Arp filed his action here. In *In re Sirfiani Carlson*, 650 Fed. Appx. 307, 309-10 (2016), the Ninth Circuit stated:

The bankruptcy court's order confirming the client's Chapter 13 plan required that the debtor inform the Trustee 'of any changes in circumstances or receipt of additional income.' MaGee assets that the portion of the tort claim allocated to lost income, \$850, should not be included as income to his client and, in essence, that the award of a judgment totaling \$48,150.92 did not amount to a change in her circumstances. Those arguments are not persuasive. '[T]he viability of the system of voluntary bankruptcy depends upon full, candid, and complete disclosure by debtors of their financial affairs.' *Searles v. Riley (In re Searles)*, 317 B.R. 368, 378 (9th Cir. BAP 2004). A debtor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Legal opinions on the ultimate legal issue before the court are not properly considered under the guise of expert testimony. It is the responsibility of the court . . . to interpret and apply the law." Washington State Physicians Ins. Exchange & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 344, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993); see also, In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Burtch, 162 Wn.2d 873, 891, 175 P.3d 1070 (2008) ("The trial court may properly disregard expert testimony containing conclusions of law."); Hiskey v. City of Seattle, 44 Wn. App. 110, 114, 720 P.2d 867, review denied, 107 Wn.2d 1001 (1986) ("An affidavit is to be disregarded to the extent that it contains legal conclusions."); Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Medical Ctr., 49 Wn. App. 130 (1987), aff'd, 110 Wn.2d 912, 757 P.2d 507 (1988) (holding conclusions of law stated in an affidavit filed in a summary judgment proceeding are improper and should be disregarded). Shoemaker's legal opinions should be disregarded.

has a statutory duty to disclose all assets, income, and financial affairs. 11 U.S.C. § 521. The tort judgment here was substantial; it exceeded the unsecured claims in the bankruptcy. A portion of the award was designated as income. The bankruptcy court did not abuse its discretion in holding that the client's receipt of this judgment amounted to a change in circumstance.

Thus, in applying identical language in a Chapter 13 confirmation order, federal courts reject Arp's view, based on Shoemaker's declaration, that a debtor's disclosure obligation is limited to wage-related matters. All assets, including a valuable claim, must be disclosed.

Finally, on the one specific point that was the basis for a remand in *Arp I*, the sufficiency of the evidence of prejudice from his inconsistent positions, Arp only briefly disagrees in his petition at 17-18 with Division I's determination (op. at 11-15), that he benefitted from his taking of inconsistent positions. But the benefit he received was *amply* documented below.

Arp's confirmed plan provided for repayment of only a percentage of his unsecured debt. The trustee, the bankruptcy court, and the creditors, therefore, had cause to modify the plan to increase payment based on Arp's personal injury claim. Arp's failure to properly disclose his claim deprived the trustee and his creditors from moving to increase his plan payments. Based on his initial asset disclosures, Arp ultimately received a discharge of \$113,347.04 of unsecured debts in bankruptcy. CP 442.

BECU was a creditor in Arp's bankruptcy. BECU filed claims for unpaid debts in the amount of \$22,028.00 for a personal line of credit and \$5,031.65 for VISA credit card charges. Under Arp's confirmed plan, BECU was repaid only \$3,195.70 of the \$22,028.00 in credit line debt and \$708.81 of the \$5,031.65 in credit card debt. CP 456.

BECU understandably hoped to recover as much of a debt as possible. CP 456. Ko testified BECU was harmed because Arp concealed his claim. CP 457. Ko stated unequivocally, that BECU would have taken additional action if it had been made aware of Arp's personal injury claim. CP 457. This is *direct evidence* that one or more of Arp's creditors would have taken action to request an amendment to his Chapter 13 plan if Arp had disclosed his claim in an amended schedule.

Arp failed to provide material information on an asset and in so doing deprived the bankruptcy court, trustee, and his creditors of the opportunity to move to modify his plan to assert an interest in any settlement or recovery from this case. Ko's testimony demonstrates BECU would have contacted the trustee and analyzed the pros and cons of filing a motion to modify if Arp's claim was disclosed. Arp, however, denied BECU (and all of his other creditors and the bankruptcy trustee) the opportunity to perform this analysis and determine whether to move to modify his plan to increase payments. BECU was repaid only 21% of the debt owed by Arp. CP 456.

BECU, like any creditor, would have preferred to recover as much of the debt as possible. CP 456. BECU was therefore negatively impacted when it was deprived of the opportunity to analyze Arp's personal injury claims and the advantages and disadvantages of filing a motion to modify. CP 457.

Division I correctly affirmed the trial court's careful, detailed factual finding that Arp benefitted from hiding his personal injuries claim from the bankruptcy court, the trustee, and his creditors. Judicial estoppel applied. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

## (2) Arp's Petition Is Untimely and the Motion for Extension of Time Does Not Satisfy RAP 18.8(b)

The Clerk's January 29, 2019 letter to the parties indicated that this answer should address the timeliness of Arp's petition and his subsequent motion for extension. There is little question Arp's petition was untimely. But his justifications for that failure to timely file the petition are baseless. The Court should deny the motion for extension.

Arp was required by RAP 13.4(a) to file his petition within 30 days of Division I's order denying his motion for reconsideration.5 That order was filed on December 7, 2018. Arp filed his present petition on January 8, 2019, 31 days after the Division I ruling. His petition is untimely. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Arp and his counsel were expressly advised by Division I in letters dated November 5, 2018 (enclosing the court's opinion) and December 7, 2018 (enclosing the order denying Arp's motion for reconsideration) that a 30-day deadline applied to a petition for review. Arp was on notice of the deadline that applied for a timely filing of any petition.

Court does not readily waive the 30-day mandate as it may be waived only "in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice." RAP 18.8(b). Further, RAP 18.8(b) states that "the appellate court will ordinarily hold that the desirability of finality of decisions outweighs the privilege of a litigant to obtain an extension of time under this section."

### (a) No Extraordinary Circumstances Exist

The reasons Arp gives for the late filing of his petition do not rise to the level of "extraordinary circumstances." This rigorous standard "has rarely been satisfied." *Reichelt v. Raymark Indus., Inc.*, 52 Wn. App. 763, 765, 764 P.2d 653 (1988). RAP 18.8(b) "clearly favors the policy of finality of judicial decisions over the competing policy of reaching the merits in every case." *Id*.

The phrase "extraordinary circumstances" contemplates "instances where the filing, despite reasonable diligence, was defective due to excusable error or circumstances beyond the party's control." *Shumway v. Payne*, 136 Wn.2d 383, 395, 964 P.2d 349 (1998). "Negligence, or the lack of 'reasonable diligence,' does not amount to 'extraordinary circumstances." *Beckman ex rel. Beckman v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 102 Wn. App. 687, 695, 11 P.3d 313 (2000).6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Courts have found extraordinary circumstances do not exist where:

In those rare cases where "extraordinary circumstances" are present, the party seeking to appeal complied with RAP 18.8(b) by timely filing a notice, but failed to comply with some other procedural requirement.<sup>7</sup> In contrast, Arp's petition was not timely filed at all. He does not claim to have complied with the deadline, but is asking the Court to consider his petition anyway.

Arp's case is also distinguishable from another case involving a *pro se* litigant who believed he was timely filing a notice of appeal. In *Scannell v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 829, 830, 912 P.2d 489 (1996), this Court found that "extraordinary circumstances" applied where a recently amended court rule's "misleading language" caused a *pro se* litigant to believe his notice of appeal was not due while his motion for indigency was pending: "[T]he

<sup>•</sup> a party's filing was late because two attorneys left the firm during the 30 days following entry of the judgment and the firm's appellate attorney had an unusually heavy workload at that time (*Reichelt*, 52 Wn. App. at 764);

<sup>•</sup> plaintiffs' counsel failed to give an opposing party notice that the judgments had been entered (*Beckman*, 102 Wn. App. at 695); or

<sup>•</sup> the late party failed to receive notice of entry of the order in the manner required by local rule (*Bostwick v. Ballard Marine, Inc.*, 127 Wn. App. 762, 112 P.3d 571 (2005)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Generally, "the moving party actually filed the notice of appeal within the 30–day period but some aspect of the filing was challenged." *Bostwick*, 127 Wn. App. at 776 (citing *Reichelt*, 52 Wn. App. at 765; *Weeks v. Chief of State Patrol*, 96 Wn.2d 893, 895–96, 639 P.2d 732 (1982) (notice was timely filed but filed in wrong court); *State v. Ashbaugh*, 90 Wn.2d 432, 438, 583 P.2d 1206 (1978) (notice was timely filed but rejected by court for lack of filing fee); *Structurals Nw., Ltd. v. Fifth & Park Place, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 710, 714, 658 P.2d 679 (1983) (notice was timely when filed within 30 days of entry of stipulated "amended" judgment)).

continuing reference in RAP 5.2(a) to RAP 15.2(a) presents a trap for the unwary. This cross-reference leads the unsophisticated pro se litigant to believe that RAP 15.2(a) has some kind of delaying effect on the 30-day notice of appeal deadline, even though no such language actually exists in the current version of RAP 15.2(a). The misleading cross-reference caused Scannell's confusion. Had the old rule been in effect, Scannell's acts would have been in full compliance." *Id.* at 833. No such confusing circumstances are present here.

Arp's claimed "extraordinary circumstances" are not. Although his motion says his counsel withdrew two weeks before the January 7, 2019 deadline to file the petition, Arp failed to mention that while his counsel's withdrawal was *effective* as of December 24, 2018, his counsel *filed* the withdrawal and sent him notice on December 10, 2018. Arp had far longer to prepare his petition than the 14 days he would have this Court believe. Further, Arp's other claimed "extraordinary circumstance" - his alleged impaired cognitive function - was known to Arp from the beginning of the 30-day period, and yet he did nothing during that period to seek an extension. He did not contact opposing counsel to see if they would agree to an extension. Neither did he ask the Court during the 30-day period to extend the time for filing his petition. Only *after* he missed the deadline did he ask the Court to extend the time for filing. Arp failed to demonstrate the

extraordinary circumstances that are required by RAP 18.8(b). Arp's filing was simply not timely. He did not fall into a "trap for the unwary" – he simply blew the deadline, and is asking the Court to excuse his tardiness.

### (b) Arp Failed to Demonstrate a "Gross Miscarriage of Justice" Would Result

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